UNIVERSITY OF MISKOLC FACULTY OF MECHANICAL ENGINEERING AND INFORMATICS



THE EFFICIENT HORIZONTAL CONTAINER TRANSHIPMENT AND ITS IMPACT ON INTERMODAL RAIL-ROAD FREIGHT TRANSPORT

SUMMARY OF PHD THESIS

Written by: László Lajos Vida Mechanical Engineer

JÓZSEF HATVANY DOCTORAL SCHOOL OF INFORMATION SCIENCE MATERIAL FLOW SYSTEMS AND LOGISTICS INFORMATICS TOPIC FIELD

Head of the Doctoral School: Jenő Szigeti Full Professor

Head of the Topic Field: Béla Illés Full Professor

Scientific supervisor: Béla Illés Full professor

Scientific co-supervisor: Ágota Bányainé Tóth Associate Professor

Miskolc, 2021

Members of the Jury

Chairman:	
László Czap	University of Miskolc, Full Professor
Secretary and member:	
Péter Veres	University of Miskolc, PhD, assistant professor
Members:	
Benedek Kerekes	University of Nyíregyháza, Full Professor
István Bíró	University of Szeged, PhD. dean. Associate Professor
Péter Tamás	University of Miskolc, PhD, Institute Director, Associate Professor, Deputy Dean
Alternate chairman:	
Sándor Radeleczki	University of Miskolc, Full Professor
Alternate members:	
Tamás Hartványi	István Széchenyi University,
Péter Telek	PhD, Associate Professor University of Miskolc, PhD, Associate Professor
Official reviewers:	
Gábor Bohács	University of Technology and Economics of Budapest, PhD, Associate Professor
Miklós Gubán	Budapest University of Economics, PhD, Professor Emeritus
Alternate reviewer:	

University of Szeged, CSc, Full Professor

Antal Véha

Contents

1. Introduction	4
2. Research methods and objectives	4
3. Review of the literature related to the topic	6
4. A description of the container handling procedure developed during the research	7
4.1. Requirements to be met	7
4.2. The developed container handling procedure	8
4.3. The developed rail-road intermodal freight transport model	9
4.4. Construction of ITP1	1
4.5. Examination of the legal environment1	3
5. New scientific results 1	4
6. Description of the application and further development possibilities of the developed container management technology	6
7. Scientific publications on the topic of the present dissertation1	7
8. Literature used1	8

1. Introduction

There are a number of analyses in the literature that address the issues of rail-road intermodal freight transport. One of the preconditions for continental rail-road intermodal freight transport is the existence of a relatively dense network of container terminals with advanced container handling [1], [2]. Another condition is that the costs of container handling do not affect significantly affect the price competitiveness of intermodal freight transport. Scientific publications have concluded that rail freight transport has a significant competitive disadvantage compared to road freight transport. I emphasize that this is not just about rail freight transport, but about rail-road intermodal freight transport, which has got competitive disadvantage compared to road transport in terms of price and transport time. The competitive disadvantage of rail transport in transport time is caused by its inflexibility. The research results summarized in the present dissertation may be significant in the paradigm shift of rail-road freight transport. In the history of paradigm shifts, it is often the case that new ideas are not accepted by even the professional public for a long time.

The container handling technology proposed in the present dissertation is extremely important, as the European freight rail network is 100% electricized in the main directions. Container loading under the electric rail overhead line is another important precondition for competitive rail-road intermodal freight transport. A number of EU-supported developments have also achieved this goal, namely container loading under the catenary, which is a forward-looking innovation with important potential. However, no breakthrough has been achieved so far.

Intermodal rail-road freight transport is often mentioned as a sustainable direction for the European transport system, which is a priority in European Commission documents [3]. In the present dissertation, I propose a new technical and organizational solution that can contribute to the achievement of the goals set by the EU. The aim of the research was to draw attention to new development opportunities and to show a new perspective to interested professionals in intermodal transport. The topic is interdisciplinary, further research of the details by experts in several fields, development of IT systems is essential.

2. Research methods and objectives

Logistics is an interdisciplinary field of science that is classified as a management science. Researchers and development professionals seek solutions for problems in logistics (transport, distribution, warehousing, etc.) in a variety of ways. The apparatus enabling the solution of the problem includes mathematical, formal logic, machine engineering, control technology and information technology procedures. In the present dissertation I used the following methods to research the problem raised:

- I present the known technical solutions for intermodal freight transport, evaluate their technical functions in terms of the development of rail-road intermodal freight transport,
- presentation of the current practice of intermodal freight transport provided by the widely used container handling,
- presentation of a competitive container transshipment machine designed with competitive machine design and applicable in the rail-road relationship,
- examining the effects of the new container handling technology on existing rail-road intermodal freight transport,
- examining the legal conditions that may be obstacles to the development of modern container handling and intermodal freight transport.

Researchers have developed new models (mathematical, freight flow, etc.) for the development of rail-road intermodal freight transport using different research methods, which are compared to draw conclusions from current practice. There is no example of a complex application of the above research methodology. At the same time, the complex research made it possible to formulate the requirements to be met, then to design the container handling machine that satisfies it, and finally to examine their impact on current continental intermodal freight transport practices.

The task to be solved within the framework of the research was named in the topic call and in the research plan: "Nowadays, intermodal freight transport is very important, the expansion of which also requires technical, organizational and information technology developments. The research should examine and provide a technical, organizational solution for the impact of technical solutions ensuring the transhipment of efficient horizontal unit transshipment (intercontinental container, swap body, etc.) on the competitiveness of rail-road freight transport. What other conditions (business, IT, legal) are needed to significantly increase significantly the performance of rail freight transport."

The research plan also formulated the most important goals and topic areas that the research should cover:

- whether there is indeed a competitive disadvantage in terms of time and price for intermodal road-rail transport,
- the effect of technical solutions known or less known in the literature on the reduction of competitive disadvantages,

- with new technical solutions (with a newly designed container handling solution), is it possible to overcome the competitive disadvantage,
- whether the new engineering solutions result in new logistics organizational technology solutions that can eliminate the competitive disadvantage in terms of price and transport time.

3. Review of the literature related to the topic

In the literature, I examined the topicality of the topic with statistical methods. I searched the following complex terms in the SCOPUS database under "title, abstract, keywords" for the period 2010-2021:

- "container" AND "handling"
- "container" AND "transshipment"
- "inland" AND "container" AND "terminal"
- "rail-road" AND "container" AND "transshipment"

I presented the distribution of the results in bar charts according to three aspects:

- disciplines,
- year of publication,
- keyword breakdown.

According to the statistical evaluation, it can be clearly stated that the number of publications in the relevant topics has been constantly increasing in the last 10 years, i.e. the interest of the professional public in the topic is outstanding.

In the presentation of literary publications, I examined 29 publications in more detail. In addition, numerous studies have been conducted in recent years on the topic of rail-road intermodal freight transport, which represent the same scientific position as the publications examined. From the study of the literature, I drew the following, more important conclusions:

- 1. An effective way to reduce the environmental impact of the transport sector is to develop rail-road intermodal freight transport.
- 2. The economical distance of rail-road intermodal freight transport can be reduced by using intermediate stops for "get on the train" and "get off the train" of containers.
- 3. A precondition for the development of rail-road intermodal freight transport is modern container transshipment technology, which means the creation of transhipment capacity under the catenary, as Europe's main railway lines are electrified.

- 4. Profitable intermodal freight transport distance can be significantly reduced significantly in the event of changes in system parameters (transhipment cost, utilization, access time and distance, etc.).
- 5. The role of the legislator is essential to follow technical progress in order to improve the competitive position of rail-road freight transport.

4. A description of the container handling procedure developed during the research

In the present dissertation I review and evaluate the applicable container handling and intermodal freight transport procedures and innovations currently used at continental container terminals, and on intermodal container transhipment points, as follows:

- vertical container handling (2 pcs),
- horizontal, by gantry crane container handling (3 pcs),
- innovative horizontal container handling procedures (7 pcs)
- rail-road intermodal freight transport, container handling procedures, adapters (5 pcs),
- railway rolling stock developments for intermodal freight transport (7 pieces),

Despite the wide range of container handling procedures presented and the numerous developments for rail freight transport, the share of rail-road intermodal freight transport is low. In many cases, transport companies expect the development of intermodal freight transport from state intervention (restrictions on road traffic, price subsidies, etc.).

4.1. Requirements to be met

Literature data also support that one of the preconditions for the development of rail-road intermodal freight transport is modern container handling [1]. Knowing the widely used container handling procedures at the rail-road intermodal container terminals, as well as the recent technical development results, I determined the main functional requirements that can be used to reduce the competitive disadvantage of rail transport compared to road freight transport. The functions to be satisfied were identified as follows:

- safe applicability under the catenary,
- transhipment of MSZ ISO 668 containers (20-40 feet),
- transhipment of class "C" swap bodies according to MSZ EN 284,

- transhipment of class "A" swap bodies according to MSZ EN 452 (as the use of these swap body types is not widespread, its handling is not a priority requirement),
- be electrically powered for environmental purposes,
- be able to operate partially or completely automatically (without operator),
- do not require the simultaneous presence of rail and road means of transport,
- do not require a new intermodal transport unit design.

4.2. The developed container handling procedure

I came across the development and need for efficient container transhipment under catenary in 2001, and since then I have been researching relevant technical solutions and developing various designs. One of them was implemented at prototype level in 2008, but could not be applied in real conditions due to the difficulties of acceptance identified in the literature search of this dissertation. The development of the design has not stopped and several smaller, more diverse rail container transporter designs have been developed. The aim is to ensure that container transhipment is as efficient as possible, i.e. at lower cost.



Figure 1. A model image of the HCT device¹

The main structural elements of HCT (Horizontal Container Transshipment) according to the design state in 2018 (Figure 1):

- undercarriage (1), ensures movement in the direction of the track,
- a support structure (2) ensures the transverse stability of the equipment,
- the connecting beam (3) provides a mechanical connection between the right and left machine units,

¹ Own editing

- the container holder (4) performs a supporting function and ensures the temporary holding of the container,
- rotating platform (5) in the range of +/- 90 degrees allows the lifting device to be rotated,
- the lower boom structure (6) allows the load to be lifted and the telescopic structure to operate over a longer range,
- upper boom structure (7) provides penetration under the overhead contact line with low construction height,
- lifting beam (8) includes container gripping pins,
- an auxiliary carriage (9) fixes the middle part of the equipment to the rail, thus providing a fixed reference point for control the movements,
- hydraulic power supply (10) electrically driven, twin-pump design,
- the control cab (11) provides the location of the controls and operating personnel,
- beam joint (12) allows the lifting beam to rotate about the vertical axis as well as tilt to be parallel to the ground



Figure 2. HCT with dynamic counterweight ²

Figure 2 shows the 2019 design version of the HCT device, which is equipped with a dynamic counterweight (1) and therefore does not require the construction of a support rail. However, due to the higher counterweight mass, the weight of the machine increases and, with the intermodal unit to be lifted, approaches 120 tonnes. Consequently, in order to comply with the 20 tonne/axle load limit, the undercarriages of this design have three axles (2).

4.3. The developed rail-road intermodal freight transport model

The growth potential of intermodal freight transport is supported by numerous studies. In their presentation at the conference "Breakthrough innovations in intermodal freight transport" [52], Y. Bontekoning and H. Priemus emphasized *"Breakthrough innovations, be they technological,*

² Own editing

Thesis booklet

organizational or both, are necessary to increase the market share of intermodal freight transport. The main growth potential is in the market for perishable and high value goods for short distances, light bulk shipments and goods requiring speed, reliability and flexibility. **Radical innovations** will be needed to achieve a breakthrough in modal split and allow us to conquer these new markets." However, for the planning of new intermodal rail-road freight transport, it is essential to have a concrete knowledge of the main freight transport routes and traffic. Efficient container management has allowed the development of an intermodal container handling unit design that not only meets but also exceeds previous literature [1]. As a result, a new rail-road intermodal freight transport model was developed.



Figure 3. Intermodal freight transport model³

Figure 3 shows a freight model where the ITPs marked 1 are located at different distances from each other, while the circles marked 2-5 represent the round trip of freight trains. Goods can enter and exit the system at the ITPs marked 1 using HCT equipment. Along the main container transport

³ Own editing

lines, ITPs are used to "get on the train" or to "get off the train" for loaded containers from a given area and to retrieve empty containers.

4.4. Construction of ITP

The advanced container handling technology presented in this dissertation can contribute to the development of a new terminal structure in the liberalized freight market that is more environmentally friendly and can improve the competitiveness of sectors with hight logistics costs. Some features of ITP equipped with HCT:

- There is no need to build a new freight terminal, as intermodal transfer points can be developed on existing underutilised freight terminal sites at relatively low cost.
- HCT can stack containers, which improves the utilization of the area.
- The simultaneous presence of a container train and a road transport vehicle is not required.
- It allows traffic to be de-concentration when, with the exception of the 20-30 km of road pre- and post-run, the goods move predominantly by rail.

HCT-supported container handling enables the development of an intermodal logistics system (physical internet) that can change terminal construction practices. Instead of high-capacity terminals, a network of small ITPs (or HUBs) can be created. The de-concentration of freight turnover is in line with the tendency for producer-suppliers and the emergence of more players, taking into account economic efficiency. Some of the organizational conditions requirement to be met for the creation and operation of ITPs are:

- Scheduled transportation of container freight trains in both international and domestic traffic. Train operation with the involvement of the railway operator in the region concerned. Trains run at such a tracking time that the container can be picked up by a train within 2-3 hours after delivery from the consignor.
- Establishment of a system of intermodal (rail-road) transhipment points under the management of a logistics company capable not only of handling containers but also of organizing customs duties for non-EU goods. In the case of Hungary, 22–23 pcs such ITPs may be required.
- Establishing the interest of companies interested in road transport in the operation of ITPs and in the performance of road pre- and post-runs.

In all cases, the new ITP is traversed by a railway line with catenary, which can be disconnected from the public railway catenary network. During

Thesis booklet

service on the railway side, the catenary will be de-energized to meet current railway safety requirements. On the average ITP, along the railway track, approx. 0.5 hectare $(5,600 \text{ m}^2)$ (14 m wide, 400 m long), approx. 500 TEUs (approximately 250 pcs 40-foot containers) can be stored outside the area reserved for servicing the road vehicle.



Figure 4. ITP section with HCT⁴





Figure 6. Layout of the two-track ITP⁶

⁴ Own editing

⁵ Own editing

⁶ Own editing

The arrangement of the ITP on both sides of the double track main line is shown in Figure 6. The ITP on both sides of the main railway line can be connected to an overpass if necessary. This arrangement should be used in cases where the volume of rail traffic makes cross-traffic difficult.



Figure 7. Single track ITP layout ⁷

The ITP arrangement on one side of the double track main line is shown in Figure 7. In this case, the container train is stopped from both main railway lines on a loading track.

4.5. Examination of the legal environment

It is clear to the experts researching the development possibilities of intermodal freight transport that the solution of the issue requires development and intervention not only in the field of technology, but also in the field of legislation. In their article "Developing intermodal transport for small flows over short distances (SFSD)" [73], F. Barthel and J. Woxenius also examined the Swedish Light-combi project. "The results show that market and financial uncertainties, insufficient network connections, and policies that support existing technology severely hamper the development and diffusion of SFSD systems." With this, the authors highlighted the importance of regulation, the conditions hindering development.

The legal environment has an impact on the applicability of the technical means of intermodal freight transport, on the relationship between the actors. In the present dissertation I have identified 9 specific legal locations, without the modification of which competitive intermodal freight transport is not possible. This means that the legislator has a key role to play in removing obstacles to the development of rail-road intermodal freight transport.

⁷ Own editing

5. New scientific results

Thesis 1: After studying the international and national literature, I developed a new intermodal rail-road freight transport model and the container transhipment technology to serves it, which meets the competitive freight transport requirements. A freight transport system using the new container handling technology will ensure sustainable freight transport for context of rail-road intermodal freight transport. [S1] [S2] [S5] [S8]

The international and national literature describes several technical solutions for rail-road intermodal freight transport, which have only achieved their objective to a limited extent, given the low share of intermodal freight transport. Based on the analysis of the designs and engineering practice, I designed a complex rail container transhipment machine, which is a patented novelty in its mechanical solutions, meets the requirements of modern machines in terms of electronic and hydraulic control and meets the requirements of Industry 4.0. The new container transhipment machine, a track-laying machine that can be safely used under the railway overhead line above the freight train, allows efficient transhipment of containers between rail and road vehicles, even in automatic mode. Since modern container handling has low unit costs (transhipment price per container is around 20% of the current price), it can be used as a new basis for rail-road intermodal freight transport. The technical advantages offered by the new machine have made it possible to develop the freight transport model, which is environmentally sustainable because it is essentially rail-based.

Thesis 2: I have determined that container handling equipment that can be used under the catenary can help the competitiveness of rail-road intermodal freight transport, but only if it does not require the simultaneous presence of technical means of transport, is capable of stacking containers on the storage side, and is suitable for unattended, automatic operation. I conclude that, in addition to the development of container handling, rail traffic management and legislative measures are needed to reduce the competitive disadvantage. [S2] [S3] [S4]

I have analysed and identified the reasons for the competitive disadvantage of rail-road intermodal freight transport, which has both time and price dimensions. An important element of the causes is the simultaneous presence of the means of transport (rail wagon, road transport vehicle, container transhipment technology). To investigate the possibility of reducing the competitive disadvantage in terms of time, I prepared a timetable for the Budapest-Nyíregyháza-Miskolc-Budapest route. On this basis, I have

Thesis booklet

concluded that there is no rail capacity constraint to the development of rail freight. An effective rail traffic management measure could be to run container trains in a roundabout. In order to examine the possibility of reducing the competitive disadvantage in terms of price, I have made a cost and revenue calculation for a specific route (Záhony-Sopron). On the basis of this calculation, I found that rail-road intermodal freight transport can be developed to be competitive with road prices. Based on literature data, I studied different container handling procedures and container transhipment equipment. I have identified the technical requirements and characteristics that modern container handling must have in order to develop rail freight transport.

I found that there are not only technical but also legal obstacles to the development of intermodal freight transport. By examining the legislation (laws, government decrees, sectoral regulations) governing and influencing the operation of public and private organisations involved in rail freight transport, I have highlighted the legal provisions which are outdated in terms of the state of the art and which are hindering the development of the sector. I have identified the most important legal provisions which, despite technical progress, cannot be developed without revision or amendment.

Thesis 3: I have developed the design of an intermodal transfer point using modern container transfer equipment, which allows the deconcentration of intermodal traffic to match the deconcentration of industrial production. It is specified that intermodal transfer points should have a catenary overhead passing railway track. [S6] [S7]

By applying the new container handling technology I have developed, it is possible to go beyond current terminal construction practices. Linked to the theory of the physical Internet, I have identified ITP (Intermodal Transhipment Point) constructions that can provide a new basis for rail-road freight transport. Using the new container handling equipment, I developed a new intermodal transhipment point design, which can be used for efficient container handling under the catenary. I have developed the proposed layout of ITPs, which require a small space.

I pointed out that the application of the new container handling technology will not only make freight transport sustainable, but also reduce the fossil fuel exposure of the national economy.

6. Description of the application and further development possibilities of the developed container management technology

The application of the intermodal freight transport system developed during the research may lead to the creation of a new door-to-door intermodal freight transport service that can operate under market economy conditions. The service can be provided by both new and existing economic operators. Intermodal transhipment points may be created in the unused rail freight yards of major cities and in the vicinity of larger industrial centres, which ensure the competitiveness of intermodal freight transport in terms of time and price.

A research project is considered to be successful if it ultimately leads to social benefits as well. The container handling technology described in this dissertation and the rail-road intermodal freight transport system that can be developed on its basis can have societal benefits in several aspects:

- The promotion of environmentally friendly modal shift from road to rail (modal shift) has significant environmental benefits, as the ecological footprint of rail freight is significantly smaller than the ecological footprint of road freight, which means sustainable freight transport.
- The reduction in heavy goods vehicle traffic by road reduces the deterioration of major roads, which in turn reduces the public resources to be spent on them.
- The intermodal freight transport system presented in this thesis is more cost-effective than road freight transport. It follows that the competitiveness of sectors with hight logistics costs will improve as a result of the new freight transport system.
- Utilization of currently underused rail infrastructure may increase, resulting in a reduction in the need for budgetary support for the rail sector.

7. Scientific publications on the topic of the present dissertation

- [S1] EP 1401693 B1. *Railway Container Transshipment Device*. (patent of Laszlo Vida, Publ. 24.09.2001.)
- [S2] László Vida: HCT: New ideas in land-based intermodal logistics LOGISTICS YEARBOOK (1218-3849): 2013 pp. 260-270., (2013), Announcement: 30774602; Public; Journal article (Article)
- [S3] László Vida: New ideas for continental intermodal freight transport LOGISTICS TRENDS AND BEST PRACTICES (2416-0555) V. grade: N. 1. pp. 29-35., (2019), Announcement: 30774610; Public; Journal article (Article)
- [S4] Béla Illés; Antal Véha; László Vida: New ideas for inland intermodal transport; TRANSPORT PROBLEMS / PROBLEMY TRANSPORTU: INTERNATIONAL SCIENTIFIC JOURNAL (1896-0596 2300-861X) 15 1 pp 117-130 (2020), Announcement: 30917948; Public; Journal article (Article)
- [S5] László Vida; Béla Illés; Ágota Tóth Bányainé: Special handling machine for transshipment of rail-road intermodal units: MULTIDISCIPLINARY SCIENCES: PUBLICATION OF THE UNIVERSITY OF MISKOLC (2062-9737) 10: 3 pp. 24-29., (2020), Announcement: 31389834; Public; Journal article (Article)
- [S6] László Vida; Béla Illés; Ágota Tóth Bányainé: Solving multimodal unit transhipment problems; MULTIDISCIPLINARY SCIENCES: PUBLICATION OF THE UNIVERSITY OF MISKOLC (2062-9737) 10: 1 pp. 178-183., (2020), Announcement: 31389836; Public; Journal article (Article)
- [S7] László Vida, Béla Illés, Ágota Tóth Bányainé: Preventing the negative effects of the COVID-19 epidemic in international freight transport; ADVANCED LOGISTIC SYSTEMS: THEORY AND PRACTICE (1789-2198) 14 1 pp 5-13 (2020) Announcement: 31894207; Public; Journal article (Article)
- [S8] László Vida: Railway container handling equipment (patent application, SZTNH Case number: P2000375; 13. 11. 2020.)
- [S9] László Vida, Béla Illés, Ágota Tóth Bányainé: Container Transshipment problems and the solution; JOURNALE OF PRODUCTION ENGINERING (1821-4932) 24 1 pp 59-64 (2021), Announcement: 32121632; Public; Journal article (Article)
- [S10] Vida László, Reducing the negative effects of the COVID-19 epidemic on international freight transport. 24 p. (2020) Announcement: 31846815; Public; Other (Not classified)

8. Literature used

- S. Behrends & J. Flodén. The effect of transhipment costs on the performance of intermodal line-trains. *Logistic Resurces*, 2012. Vol. 4, pp. 127-136. DOI 10.1007/s12159-012-0066-0.
- [2] J. Woxenius & E. Andersson & F. Bärthela & G. Trocheb & R. Sommar & J. Trouvè. A Swedish intermodal transport service based online-trains serving freight forwarders, *World Conference on Transport Research*, Istanbul 2004. <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/237557591</u> (downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.)
- [3] S. Kallas, White Paper on transport, European Union, 2011, ISBN 978-92-79-18270-9, DOI:10.2832/30955
- [4] T. A. Mathisena & T. S. Hanssen, The academic literature on intermodal freight transport, Transportation Research Procedia 3 (2014) 611 – 620, DOI: 10.1016/j.trpro.2014.10.040
- [5] Johan Woxenius. Intermodal transshipment technologies an owerview, *Technical Report* January 1998, DOI: 10.13140/RG.2.1.1155.2481
- [6] M. Bontekoning, E. Kreutzberger, Concepts of New-Generation Terminals and Terminal Nodes, The Netherlands *TRAIL Research School*, ISBN: 90-407-1905-5
- [7] TERMINET project final report, <u>https://trimis.ec.europa.eu/sites/default/files/project/documents/terminet</u> .pdf (downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.)
- [8] Gyula Kiss, András Lukács: Possibilities of shifting freight transport from road to rail in Hungary; *Air Working Group*, jun. 2010.
- [9] A. V. Binsbergen & R. Konings & L.A. Tavasszy & R. V. Duin Innovations in intermodal freight transport: lessons from Europe. *TRB* 2014 Annual Meeting, DOI: 10.13140/2.1.1918.4329, <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/268509356</u> (downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.)
- [10] T.G. Crainic és K. H. Kim: Intermodal trasportation, January 2006, *Transportation*, <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/287097117_Intermodal_Tran</u> sportation (downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.)
- [11] Dr. Zoltán Bokor: Assessing the situation of intermodal logistics services and exploring development opportunities, *Logisztika* 10 (3) pp. 22-64 ISSN 1785-6736
- [12] Wiegmans B. W., Hekkert M. and Langstraat M. Can Innovations in Rail Freight Transhipment Be Successful? *Transport Reviews* 27: 1, 2007, pp. 103 - 122.

- [13] W. Wiegmans, D.T. Stenkelenburg, C. Versteegt, Y.M. Bontekoning, Modeling Rail-Rail Exchange Operations: An Analysis of Conventional and New-Generation Terminals, *Transportation Journal*, September 2007, <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/288544192</u> (downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.)
- [14] L. Mindur és M. Hajdul, The concept of intermodal network development in Poland using multi-agent systems, *Transport Problems* Volume 6 Issue 3 (2011)
- [15] S. Hanssen and others, Generalized transport costs in intermodal freight transport, *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences* 54 (2012) 189 – 200, DOI: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2012.09.738
- [16] C. Bierwirth and others, On transport services selection in intermodal rail/road distribution network, *German Academic Association for Business Research* Volume 5, Issue 2, November 2012, 198-212 pp.
- [17] D. Islam, Barriers to and enablers for European rail freight transport for integrated door-to-door logistics service, Part 1: Barriers to multimodal rail freight transport, *Transport Problems* Volume 9 (2014), Issue 3, 43-56 pp.
- [18] D. Islam, Barriers to and enablers for European rail freight transport for integrated door-to-door logistics service. Part 2: Enablers for multimodal rail freight transport, *Transport Problems* Volume 9 (2014) Issue 4, 5-13 pp.
- [19] Liege and the Antwerpen University author's: BRAIN TRAINS SWOT analyse; *Belgian Science Policy Office* 03.03.2015.
- [20] When-Chin Huang, Chin-Yuan Chu: Selection model for the container management system within the terminal; *Jurnal of Marine Science and Technology* Vol. 12. No. 3. (2004)
- [21] D. Islam and others, How to make modal shift from road to rail possible in the European transport market, as aspired to in the EU Transport White Paper 2011, *European Transport Research Review* (2016) 8: 18 DOI 10.1007/s12544-016-0204-x
- [22] G Siciliano and others, Adapted cost-benefit analysis methodology for innovative railway services, *European Transport Research Review* (2016) 8: 23, DOI 10.1007/s12544-016-0209-5
- [23] L. Abdenebaoui, HJ Kreowski: Modelling of decentralized process in dynamic logistic networks by means of graph-trasformational swarm, *Logistic Research* (2016) 9:20, DOI 10.1007/s12159-016-0147-6
- [24] M Hülsman, B Scholz-Reiter, K Windt: Autonomous cooperation and control in logistics, ISBS 978-3-642-19469-6 (Springer, Berlin, 2011)
- [25] D. Islam, M. Blinde, The future of European rail freight transport and logistics, *European Transport Research Review* (2017) 9: 11, DOI 10.1007/s12544-017-0227-y

- [26] Oszter V. Transport policies in Hungary historical background and current practice for national and regional level, *European Transport Research Review* (2017) 9: 20, DOI 10.1007/s12544-017-0236-x
- [27] J. Lizbetin, L. Bartuska, Significance of Proper Selection of Handling Equipment in Inland Intermodal Transport Terminals, *Polytechnica Transportation Engineering*, January 2018, DOI: 10.3311/PPtr.11169
- [28] D. Islam, T. Zunder "Experiences of rail intermodal freight transport for low-density high value (LDHV) goods in Europe, *European Transport Research Review* (2018) 10:24, <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12544-018-0295-7</u> (downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.)
- [29] A. Carboni, B. Chiara, Range of technical-economic competitiveness of rail-road combined transport, *Transport Research Review* (2018) 10:45, <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12544-018-0319-3</u> (downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.)
- [30] B. Zgonc and others, The impact of distance on mode choice in freight transport, *European Transport Research Review* (2019) 11:10, <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12544-019-0346-8</u> (downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.)
- [31] S. Stoilova, S. Martinov Choosing the container handling equipment in a rail-road intermodal terminal through multi-criteria methods, *Materials Science and Engineering* 664 (2019) 012032, DOI:10.1088/1757-899X/664/1/012032
- [32] A. Caris and others, Decision support in intermodal transport: A new research agenda, *Computers in Industry* 64 (2013) 105–112, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.compind.2012.12.001 (downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.)
- [33] M. Boehm and others, The potential of high-speed rail freight in Europe: how is a modal shift from road to rail possible for low-density high value cargo? *European Transport Research Review* (2021) 13:4, <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12544-020-00453-3</u> (downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.)
- [34] Maribor University Faculty of Logistics, Questionary; <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/285599752_Questionnaire_L</u> <u>ogistics_platform_in_english/link/5661efa708ae15e7462ec202/downlo</u> <u>ad</u> (downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.)
- [35] Prefered Global Logistics, <u>http://www.preferredgloballogistics.com/index.php?doc_id=43</u> (downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.)
- [36] R. Sommar, J. Woxenius, Time perspektives on intermodal transport of consolidated cargo, *European Journal of Transport and Infrastructure Research*, 7, no. 2 (2007), pp. 163-182

- [37] Magyar Tranzitgazdasági Iroda Nonprofit Kft: Questionnaire research (2013) <u>https://logisztika.hu/2013/10/03/kerdoiv-az-aruszallitasi-mod-kivalasztasanak-szempontjai/</u> (downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.)
- [38] KSH Central Statistics Office. <u>http://www.ksh.hu/docs/hun/xftp/idoszaki/jelszall/jelszall18.pdf</u> (downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.)
- [39] A Ballis, J. Golias: Comparative evaluation of existing and innovative rail-road freight transport terminals; *Trasportation Research* Part A36, 593-611 pp. (2002)
- [40] RCH Cargo rate 2021, <u>https://rch.railcargo.com/dam/jcr:2f362dc5-3b73-45ed-9907-7e609a51ead5/hatalyos-arudijszabas-2021.pdf</u> (downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.)
- [41] CREATS author group, I Final Report Vol. III: Transport Master Plan, Chapter 7: Intermodal Transport, <u>https://openjicareport.jica.go.jp/pdf/11709938_07.pdf</u> (downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.)
- [42] I. A. Hansen. Automated shunting of rail container wagons in ports and terminal areas.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/296375739 (downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.)

- [43] INHOTRA. Final Report.
 <u>https://trimis.ec.europa.eu/sites/default/files/project/documents/200607</u>
 <u>27_150345_76487_INHOTRA_Final_Report.pdf</u> (downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.)
- [44] H. Komsta and others, The case study of the Cargobeamer system use in rail transport in Slovakia, *Transport Problems*, 2018 Volume 13 Issue 3, DOI: 10.20858/tp.2018.13.3.13
- [45] C. Macharis, Y.M. Bontekoning, Opportunities for OR in intermodal freight transport research: A review, *European Journal of Operational Research* 153 (2004) 400–416, DOI:10.1016/S0377-2217(03)00161-9
- [46] Chikán A, Czakó E: Research design study, Corvinus University Institute of Business Economics (jun. 2005.)
- [47] 18/1998 (VII. 3.) KHVM regulation (National Railway Regulations II. part. <u>http://www.njt.hu</u> (downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.)
- [48] J. Woxenius and others, A Swedish intermodal transport service based on line-trains serving freight forwarders, *Conference Paper* July 2004, <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/237557591</u> (downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.)
- [49] N. Malysheva and others, Robotic automation of inland container terminals, Scientific Journals of the Maritime University of Szczecin, Published: 30.09.2020, DOI: 10.17402/441
- [50] Z. Peng and others, Intermodal transportation of full and empty containers in harbor-inland regions based on revenue management,

European Transport Research Review (2019) 11:7, <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12544-018-0342-4</u> (downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.)

- [51] C. Kölble. New technologies increase efficiency in intermodal transport. Swiss Transport Research Conference, 2004. <u>http://www.strc.ch/2004/Koelble_Efficiency_STRC_2004.pdf</u> (downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.)
- [52] Y. Bontekoning & H. Priemus, Breakthrough innovations in intermodal freight transport, *Transportation Planning and Technology* Volume 27, 2004 Issue 5
- [53] P. Drozdziel and others, Prospects of international freight transport in the east-west direction, *Transport Problems* 2015 Volume 10 Issue 4, DOI: 10.21307/tp-2015-043
- [54] E. Kreutzberger, Distance and time in intermodal goods transport networks in Europe: A generic approach, *Transportation Research* Part A 42 (2008) 973–993, DOI: 10.1016/j.tra.2008.01.012
- [55] M. Marinov, Rail and multimodal freight: A problem-oriented survey (Part II-1) *Transport Problems* Volume 4 Issue 2 (2009)
- [56] Dr. Pálfalvi, József. Benchmarking in rail freight transport (KTE, 2002. 6. p. 201-209). <u>http://realj.mtak.hu/10807/6/Kozlekedestudomanyi_2002_06.pdf</u> (downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.)
- [57] J. Erjavec & P. Trkman & A. Groznik. The trade-off between road and railroad freight transport - coast benefit analysis for Slovenia. *Economic and business review*, 2014. Vol. No. 1., pp. 63-76.
- [58] A. Aguezzoul. Overview on Supplier Selection of Goods versus 3PL. Selection Journal of Logistics Management, 2012. Vol. 1(3), pp. 18-23. DOI: 10.5923/j.logistics.20120103.02.
- [59] Péter Holicza: Serious train accidents in Europe: The most common causes; *Doctoral School of Security Policy, University of Óbuda*, 2018
- [60] C. Macharis & G. K. Janssens & B. Jourquin & E. Pekin & A. Caris & T. Crepin. Decision support system for intermodal transport policy "DSSITP" 2008. <u>http://www.belspo.be/belspo/ssd/science/Reports/DSSITP_final%20rep</u>
- ort.Summary.pdf (downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.) [61] R. Sakalys & N. Batarliené. Research on Intermodal Terminal
- Interaction in International Transport Corridors. 10th International Scientific Conference Transbaltica, Transportation Science and Technology, Lithuania: 2017. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1877705817319069

(downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.)

- [62] dpa international. <u>http://www.dpa-international.com/topic/germany-austria-italy-tackle-traffic-jams-alpine-pass-180205-99-937137</u> (downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.)
- [63] S. Nocera and others, Options for reducing external costs from freight transport along the Brenner corridor, *European Transport Research Review* (2018) 10:53, <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12544-018-0323-7</u> (downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.)
- [64] S. Huber and others, Consideration of transport logistics hubs in freight transport demand models, *Transport Research Review* (2015) 7: 32, DOI 10.1007/s12544-015-0181-5
- [65] J. Pieriegud: Analysis of the potential of the development of rail container transport market in Poland, *European Union*, 2019
- [66] KSH Central Statistics Office. <u>http://www.ksh.hu/docs/hun/xftp/idoszaki/jelszall/jelszall17.pdf</u> (downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.)
- [67] Report of the Hungarian Petroleum Association. <u>http://petroleum.hu/dokumentumok/uzemanyag-statisztikak/</u> (downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.)
- [68] Csernik Kornél: Basics of petroleum refining, MOL, University of Debrecen, 2016, <u>https://mol.hu/.....</u> (downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.)
- [69] O. Delgado, F. Rodríguez: CO₂ emissions and fuel consumption standards for heavy-duty vehicles in the European Union, May, 2018, <u>https://theicct.org/publications/co2-emissions-and-fuel-consumptionstandards-heavy-duty-vehicles-european-union</u> (downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.)
- [70] C. Macharis and others, Combining Intermodal Transport With Electric Vehicles: Towards More Sustainable Solutions, *Transportation Planning and Technology* 30 (2-3) : 311-323, DOI: 10.1080/03081060701395618
- [71] H. Liimatainen and others, CO₂ reduction costs and benefits in transport: socio-technical scenarios, *European Journal of Futures Research* (2018) 6:22, <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40309-018-0151-y</u> (downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.)
- [72] O. Jonkeren and others, A shift-share based tool for assessing the contribution of a modal shift to the decarbonisation of inland freight transport, *European Transport Research Review* (2019) 11:8, https://doi.org/10.1186/s12544-019-0344-x (downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.)
- [73] F. Bärthel, J. Woxenius, Developing intermodal transport for small flows over short distances, *Transportation Planning and Technology* Volume 27, 2004 – Issue 5, https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/0308106042000287586

https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/0308106042000287586 (downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.)

- [74] 32/2009 (II. 9.) Government Decree on detailed rules for rail freight contracts. <u>www.njt.hu</u> (downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.)
- [75] 55/2015. (IX. 30.) NFM Decree on detailed rules for open access to the railway network. <u>http://www.njt.hu</u>. (downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.)
- [76] 32/2009 (II.19.) Government Decree on detailed rules for rail freight. Available: <u>http://www.njt.hu</u>. (downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.)
- [77] 2005. CLXXXIII. Railway Transport Act. <u>http://www.njt.hu</u>. (downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.)
- [78] VPSZ Network Business Regulations 2019/2020 for the scheduling period. <u>https://www2.vpe.hu/kozlemenyek/2019/07/15/a-2019-2020-as-menetrendi-időszakra-vonatkozó-hálózati-üzletszabályzat-3.-számú-módosítás-tervezetének-nyilvánosságra-hozatala</u> (downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.)
- [79] K. M. Saparovna & S. S. Ospanov & M. D. Sharapiyeva & A. Antoni. The Evaluation of the Efficiency of Transport and Logistics Infrastructure of Railway Transport. *Scientific Journal of Maritime Research.* 2018. 32, pp. 88-101.
- [80] Magyar Közút Nonprofit Zrt: Road traffic counting (2019), <u>https://internet.kozut.hu/kozerdeku-adatok/orszagos-kozuti-adatbank/forgalomszamlalas/</u> (downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.)
- [81] 60/1992 (IV.1) Government Decree, Fuel Standards
- [82] VPSZ. Charging Document of MÁV ZRT. <u>https://www2.vpe.hu/eng/network-statement/network-statement-2018-2019</u> (downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.)
- [83] MMV Zrt. Freight Transport Business Rules Section 26. §. <u>http://www.mmv.hu/hun/Árufuvarozási%20üzletszabályzat%202018.p</u> <u>df</u> (downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.)
- [84] C. Landschützer & F. Ehrentraut & D. Jodin. Containers for the Physical Internet: requirements and engineering design related to FMCG logistics. *Logistic Resurce*, 2015. Vol. 8:8. DOI 10.1007/s12159-015-0126-3.
- [85] K. Lewandowski. The ACTS system a chance for the rail transport on increase in the intermodal transport. ANALIZY 06. may. 2015. <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/275948340</u> (downloaded: 2021. 09. 06.)